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ERIC HEIMANN

United States Attorney i
JEREMY A. GROSS (WY Bar # 7-5110) i JhH =3
Assistant United States Attorney

P.O. Box 668 LIvH
Cheyenne, WY 82003-0668 : o
Telephone: 307-772-2124

jeremy.gross@usdoj.gov

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF WYOMING

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Plaintiff,
V.

2021 NISSAN ROGUE SUV,
VIN # IN1IBJIAVOMW308183;

Case No.
ANDERSON MANUFACTURING AM-15 5.56
CAL. RIFLE BEARING S/N 20079928;

GLOCK INC. MODEL 17 9MM PISTOL
BEARING S/N AETZ389;

MAVERICK ARMS MODEL 88 12 GAUGE.
SHOTGUN BEARING S/N MV09835V;

RUGER MODEL LCP .380 CAL. PISTOL
BEARING S/N 381430209,

ASSORTED MAGAZINES AND AMMUNITION

T - S N N i S N N N T N N S e

Defendants.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA’S VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE IN
REM

Plaintiff United States of America, by and through the United States Attorney for the
District of Wyoming, and Assistant United States Attorney Jeremy A. Gross, brings this verified

complaint for forfeiture in a civil action in rem, in accordance with Supplemental Rule G(2) of the
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Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, against: (1) a 2021 Nissan Rogue SUV with a VIN number of
JNIBJ1AVOMW308183; (2) an Anderson Manufacturing AM-15, 5.56 Caliber Rifle bearing
serial number 20079928; (3) a Glock Inc. Model 17, 9MM Pistol bearing serial number AETZ389;
(4) a Maverick Arms Model 88, 12 gauge Shotgun bearing serial number MV09835V; (5) a Ruger
Model LCP, .380 Caliber Pistol bearing serial number 381430209; and (6) all magazines and
ammunition seized on July 4 & 5, 2024 (collectively, “Defendant Property”). In support of this
complaint, the United States alleges as follows:

I. NATURE OF ACTION AND THE DEFENDANTS IN REM

1. The plaintiff is the United States of America.

2. Defendant Property includes all guns, magazines, and ammunition found to be in
the possession of Samson Lucas Bariah Fussner on July 4, 2024, as well as all guns, magazines,
and ammunition seized from the 2021 Nissan Rogue on July 4 and 5, 2024.

3. Defendant Property also includes a 2021 Nissan Rogue with a VIN #
JN1BJ1AVOMW308183, which was staged as a primary getaway vehicle and as a mode of
transportation to assist Fussner in reaching further targets.

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This is a civil forfeiture action brought pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(G)(1), (ii),

and (iii), as well as 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c) & (d).

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§
1345 and 1355.

6. This Court has in rem jurisdiction over the Defendant Property and venue pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1355(b)(1)(A) because the acts or omissions giving rise to the forfeiture took place
in the District of Wyoming, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1395(b) because the property to be

forfeited was found within the District of Wyoming.
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7. All property subject to forfeiture under this complaint was seized within the
boundaries of the Yellowstone National Park, within the District of Wyoming. As of the date of
this action, the 2021 Nissan Rogue remains in federal custody within Yellowstone National Park,
the four firearms are in federal custody in Quantico, Virginia, and the assorted magazines and
ammunition are located in federal custody in both Denver, Colorado and Lander, Wyoming.

III. SUMMARY OF THE FACTUAL BASIS FOR FORFEITURE

8. On July 3, 2024, at approximately 10:00 pm, Samson Lucas Bariah Fussner
(“Fussner”) held Victim 1 hostage for approximately two hours in her dorm room in the Grizzly
Dorm in Canyon Village, Yellowstone, Wyoming. During this time, Fussner made inflammatory
comments about immigrants, African Americans, and Jews, including how they were negatively
affecting the country. Fussner also expressed his plan to carry out mass shootings at the employee
dining room in Canyon Lodge and the fireworks display at West Yellowstone, Montana. At
approximately midnight, Fussner left Victim 1, unharmed. Victim 1 immediately called for help
and National Park Service (NPS) Rangers were notified. Rangers attempted to locate Fussner that
night but were unsuccessful. Because of the threat of a mass shooting, Rangers were posted around
Canyon Lodge and Grizzly Dorm for protection of the attendees.

9. At 8:05 am on July 4, 2024, Fussner walked out of the forested area near Canyon
Lodge where he was observed by Ranger 1 who was standing near Grizzly Dorm. Ranger 1 yelled
at Fussner and Fussner immediately fired an AR style rifle at Ranger 1, who took cover. Fussner
then approached the Canyon Lodge loading dock and back entry to the employee dining room.
Rangers 2 and 3 were posted inside the Canyon Lodge with a vantage point towards the loading
dock and back entry to the employee dining room. Ranger 2 saw Fussner approaching and the two

exchanged gunfire. Ranger 2 was hit in the right foot. Ranger 3 then opened fire on Fussner at
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close range. Ranger 1, who had followed Fussner after being shot at, simultaneously rounded a
corner, and observed Fussner. Ranger 1 also engaged Fussner, likely hitting him.

10.  During the attack Fussner was armed with an AR-15 style rifle, later identified as
the Anderson Manufacturing AM-15 5.56 caliber rifle bearing serial number 20079928, as well as
a Glock model 17 9MM pistol bearing serial number AETZ389, and numerous magazines with
ammunition. During further search of Fussner’s vehicle, a 2021 Nissan Rogue bearing VIN #
JN1BJ1AVOMW308183, which was strategically parked on the other side of the employee dining
hall, NPS officers discovered a Ruger brand .380 caliber pistol bearing serial number 381430209,
a Maverick Arms Model 88 12 gauge shotgun bearing serial number MV09835V, and an
assortment of magazines and ammunition.

11.  Ranger 2 suffered a severe foot injury, losing multiple toes as a result of Fussner
shooting him. Somehow, due to the quick response and positioning of law enforcement, Fussner
was not able to harm anyone further.

12.  Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant Properties are assets acquired or maintained by
Fussner with the intent and for the purpose of supporting, planning, conducting, or concealing a
Federal crime of terrorism, as that term is defined at 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5). Furthermore,
Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant Properties are assets derived from, involved in, or used or
intended to be used to commit a Federal crime of terrorism, as that term is defined at 18 U.S.C. §
2332b(g)(5). Specifically, in attempting to carry out an attack on the employee dining room at
Canyon Lodge, and in actually shooting at federal NPS employees, Fussner intended to influence
or affect the conduct of government by intimidation or coercion, or to retaliate against government

conduct; and violated 18 U.S.C. § 1114 (prohibiting the killing or attempted killing of any officer
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or employee of the United States). The above captioned assets are therefore subject to forfeiture
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 981(a)(1)(G)(i), (ii), and (iii).

13.  Plaintiff further alleges that the Defendant Property, except for the 2021 Nissan
Rogue, are firearms or ammunition involved in or used in a knowing violation of § 924(c), which
prohibits the use, carrying, or possession of a firearm in relation to a crime of violence.

IV. FACTS GIVING RISE TO FORFEITURE
A. Fussner’s Plans for Pro White Nationalist Violence

14.  Beginning at an unknown time, but no later than July 1, 2024, Fussner engaged in
the planning of and preparation to carry out a terrorist attack against the United States, its citizens
and their property. Fussner’s plans culminated in the kidnapping of one female victim and a shoot-
out with NPS employees on July 4, 2024, within the boundaries of Yellowstone National Park.

15.  Prior to July 4, Fussner had a history of expressing white supremacist and
antisemitic views. Fussner was an active member of the Vanguard News Network, a website and
forum dedicated to white supremacist and antisemitic viewpoints.

16.  In one post from March 16, 2024, Fussner stated he was, “on the precipice of a
breakdown.” Fussner recounted his depression, loneliness, and mental anguish. He reiterated his
belief in and desire for a white nation, while lamenting his inability to connect with others. Fussner
stated he despises Christians, elaborating that he, “refuse[s] to fraternize with race-traitors that
support non-whites or jews.” Fussner then stated, “This year may well be my last. I do not believe
in suicide, but I do believe in a last stand.” He further wrote that he was attempting to get a seasonal
job in a “nice white mountainous area or state park” to get into better surroundings and expose
himself to different white people. He further explained: “If I am still unable to make something of

that experience, look forward to someday seeing me in the news.”
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17.  Leading up to July 4, 2024, Fussner revealed to his brother his plans to commit a
mass shooting. On July 1, while complaining about his mental health and his problems with
women, Fussner texted his brother “Im very upset right now and need to apply for lots of jobs so
[1] can leave here asap otherwise i will go postal here.” This was followed up by a text where
Fussner told his brother, “I can’t do it anymore. I think 4th of July would be a good time. Lots of
crowds and theyd think it was fireworks.” His brother responded, “Yeah maybe. Fireworks
allowed in Yellowstone?” Fussner then said, “No not allowed but they will be doing it in cities.
Im talking about shooting during the fireworks cus crowds there will be easy targets.”

18.  The afternoon of July 2, Fussner began texting his brother again, this time
complaining about Yellowstone becoming, “80% J1s. 50% chink/30% spic . . . Whites seem to
have disappeared . . . Very odd hellscape im in.”! In a string of texts which follows, Fussner
complained about modes of thinking, more about the hellscape he was in, and blaming Jews for
transferring this “extreme system” to him and his kind. Fussner then told his brother about Victim
1, saying he was obsessed with her, describing her physical appearance, and referring to her as,
“German stock.”

19.  On the morning of July 3, Fussner again texted his brother, indicating that he had
figured out what was wrong with him, concluding that “continuing to live would be meaningless.
I would just continue to suffer and feel nothingness even ifI could gain everything I could logically
think I wanted. Dead is a good thing. It is a release. Ive lived much longer than I should have

already ... But I want a good dearh [sic]. One that was fun and had some kind of meaning.”

! Upon information and belief, the term “J1” refers to a non-citizens who utilizes a J-1 visa to
travel to the United States for study or cultural exchange.
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B. Fussner’s kidnapping of Victim 1

20.  Sometime around 9:40 p.m. on July 3, 2024, Fussner went to Victim 1’s dorm room.
She told him that she was not interested in him romantically and he left. Twenty minutes later,
Fussner returned.

21. At approximately 10:00 p.m. on July 3, 2024, Fussner entered Victim 1’s dorm
room in the Canyon Grizzly Dorm and took her hostage. Fussner knocked on her door before
forcefully entering when she opened the door. Fussner pulled out a knife for a short time and then
put it away and pulled out a handgun. Fussner proceeded to hold Victim 1 hostage for
approximately two hours. During this time, Fussner told Victim 1 he was taking her hostage and
that she was not free to leave. According to Victim 1, Fussner never pointed the gun at her, but he
did keep it in his hands for the entire two hours with his finger close to the trigger.

22.  During those two hours, Fussner also ranted about his mental health issues, his
racist ideations, and his plans to carry out a mass shooting at the employee dining room in Canyon
Lodge and the fireworks display at West Yellowstone, Montana.

23.  Fussner told Victim 1 he wanted to kill himself ten years ago, but he could not pull
the trigger. Fussner indicated that he wanted people to go down with him, so he had to do
something major; he wanted to make a statement because politics in America are messed up, and
law enforcement was going to have to kill him. Fussner told Victim 1 he did not like how America
was bringing in non-Americans and how that was changing the culture. He indicated that he
thought all blacks were evil and reported hating Jews. Fussner also expressed racist thoughts
against “J-1s”.

24.  Fussner told Victim 1 that he had plans to go to a “jew camp” and shoot Jewish
kids. Fussner then told Victim 1 he was going to go to West Yellowstone for fireworks on the

Fourth to shoot into a large crowd of people. Fussner told Victim 1 he was particularly fed up on
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that day, July 3, and came up with a last minute plan to shoot up the Canyon employee dining
room.

25. A little before midnight, Victim 1’s roommate entered the dorm room. Fussner hid
the gun under his arm so that Victim 1°s roommate could not see it. Victim 1’s roommate went to
shower, at which point Fussner left. Before leaving, Fussner told Victim 1 that if the cops come to
find him, he would have to come back to her room with something more powerful that doors won’t
stop. Victim 1 understood this to mean a larger gun.

26.  Victim 1 reported this incident to Xanterra security shortly after Fussner left,
informing them of both the hostage incident as well as Fussner’s plans to commit a mass shooting.

27. A Xanterra security officer then contacted NPS dispatch and reported the incident,
including Fussner’s threat to shoot up the employee dining room.

C. Fussner’s Attack on NPS employees
28.  NPS Rangers spent the morning of July 4th searching for Fussner.

29.  On July 4, 2024 at 1:18am, Fussner started frantically texting his brother again,
stating “Snapped and did something dumb :p . . . No way im doing time for it. A felon for that?
Already had hard time in life.” “I should have waited until July 4™ and just done a crowd but
something compelled me otherwise.” “I kinda wanted to ‘break the script’ so to speak and it
worked kinda but I faltered in the plan of full hostage doh!” “You aren’t gonna be happy when
you wake up lol but maybe I can do something funny.”

30. At 5:45am, Fussner’s vehicle, a 2021 Nissan Rogue bearing VIN #
JN1BJ1AVOMW308183, was located in the Canyon parking lot by Xanterra security. Rangers
approached the vehicle and determined it was unoccupied. In plain view on the center console
Rangers observed a pistol. Given the hazard of a firearm left sitting in an unattended vehicle,
Rangers tested the driver’s door and found it to be unlocked. Rangers then retrieved the firearm, a
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Ruger brand .380 caliber pistol bearing serial number 381430209, loaded with a round in the
chamber. While retrieving the pistol, Rangers also observed and subsequently seized a loaded 9mm
magazine for a Glock type handgun, rifle magazines, and multiple high-capacity Glock style
handgun magazines. Rangers also noticed an individual first aid kit behind the driver’s seat. The
Rangers then secured the vehicle.

31.  During a subsequent search of the vehicle, federal law enforcement discovered a
Maverick Arms Model 88 12 gauge shotgun bearing serial number MV09835V, concealed within
a guitar case.

32. It was observed that Fussner had reversed the Nissan into a parking spot to allow
for a quick getaway. He had also chosen to park the vehicle on the opposite side of the Canyon
lodge from where he entered, allowing for him to pass through the building and onto his next
target. Combining these facts with the presence of the loaded handgun in the center console and
the individual first aid kit, it reasonably appeared that Fussner had tactically parked his vehicle so
that he could make a speedy getaway to the next location.

33. At approximately 8:05 am, Fussner exited the woods east of Canyon Lodge and
north-east of Grizzly Dorm. Ranger 1 observed Fussner carrying an AR-15 type rifle with his left
hand on the foregrip and right hand on the pistol-grip. This rifle was later identified as the
Anderson Manufacturing AM-15 5.56 caliber rifle bearing serial number 20079928, as identified
in the caption.

34.  Ranger 1 yelled for Fussner to stop and almost immediately Fussner turned toward
Ranger 1, aimed his rifle at the Ranger and fired. Ranger 1 took cover behind a tree.

35.  After firing at Ranger 1, Fussner continued towards the employee dining room

through the loading dock area. Rangers 2 and 3, who were stationed inside the hallway of the
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lodge, next to the employee dining room, made contact with Fussner. Ranger 2 and Fussner
repeatedly exchanged gunfire. In this exchange, Fussner shot Ranger 2 in the right foot, resulting
in a severe foot injury which required Ranger 2 to undergo multiple surgeries and ultimately the
loss of multiple toes.

36.  Fussner next exchanged gunfire with Ranger 3.

37.  After hearing additional gunfire, Ranger 1 headed for the loading dock area, where
he encountered Fussner. Ranger 1 fired at Fussner, who then ran toward Ranger 1. Ranger 1
continued to fire until Fussner was neutralized and lying on the ground.

38.  Fussner was later pronounced dead by a physician.

39.  During a search of his person, Fussner was found to be in possession of a Glock
model 17 9MM pistol bearing serial number AETZ389, as well as assorted ammunition and
magazines.

COUNT ONE — FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. § 981(A)(1)(G))

40.  The United States incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in Paragraphs
1 to 39 above as if fully set forth herein.

41.  As described above, the Defendant Property was part of a plot to commit mass
violence at the employee dining room in Canyon Lodge and/or the West Yellowstone fireworks
show, resulting in the serious physical injury of one NPS employee.

42.  The Defendant Property is subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
981(a)(1)(G)(i), as domestic assets of an individual engaged in planning or perpetrating a federal
crime of terrorism as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5) against the United States, as well as the

citizens or residents of the United States.
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43.  Alternatively, the Defendant Property is subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(G)(ii), as assets acquired or maintained by any person with the intent and
for the purpose of supporting, planning, conducting, or concealing a federal crime of terrorism as
defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5) against the United States, as well as the citizens or residents of
the United States.

44.  Alternatively, the Defendant Property is subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(G)(iii), as assets derived from, involved in, or used or intended to be used
to commit any federal crime of terrorism as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5) against the United
States, as well as the citizens or residents of the United States.

COUNT TWO — FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c) & (d))

45.  The United States incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in Paragraphs
1 to 44 above as if fully set forth herein.

46.  As described above, the Defendant Property is part of a plot to commit mass
violence at the employee dining room in Canyon Lodge and/or the West Yellowstone fireworks
show, resulting in the serious physical injury of one NPS employee.

47.  The Defendant Property, other than the 2021 Nissan Rogue, is subject to seizure
and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d)(1) as any firearm or ammunition involved in or used
in any knowing violation of section 924 shall be subject to seizure and forfeiture. Subsection 924(c)
makes it a crime for “any person who, during and in relation to any crime of violence ... for which
the person may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, uses or carries a firearm, or who, in

furtherance of any such crime, possesses a firearm[.]”
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V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States of America prays that notice issue on the Defendant
Property as described above; that due notice be given to all parties to appear and show cause why
the forfeiture should not be decreed; that judgment be entered declaring that the Defendant
Property be forfeited to the United States for disposition according to law; and that the United
States be granted such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper, together with the costs
and disbursements of this action.

DATED this 3rd day of January 2025.

ERIC HEIMANN
United States Attorney

Assistant United States Attorney
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VERIFICATION
I, Eric Barker, a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, declare under
penalty of perjury, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, that the foregoing Verified Complaint for
Forfeiture In Rem is based upon reports and information known to me and/or furnished to me by
other law enforcement representatives and that everything represented herein is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Executed on this 3 day of January 2025.

g
Special Agent Eric Barker
Federal Bureau of Investigation
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